I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment dismissing the 

customers' claims under the securities acts of Ohio and Washington. 

2. The trial court erred in ruling that customer Bernard Goldberg's 

investments were not securities. 

3. The trial court erred in granting summary judgment dismissing the 

customers' negligent supervision claims. 

4. The trial court erred by granting Rosenthal Collins's motion for a 

protective order that prohibited discovery concerning its monitoring and 

review of the account where the customers' money was being traded. 

II. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

It is uncontested that Enrique Villalba defrauded his customers by 

selling them a program that promised their money would be invested in 

treasury bills except for three to five times a month when he would 

supplement the return on those investments by using his expertise to trade 

futures contracts with "little or no leverage" and "minimal risk" to the 

underlying assets. Instead, Villalba used the program to trade almost daily 

in the account with high-leveraged, risky futures trades that he hid from his 

customers by sending them phony account statements. The customers lost 

all the money they invested in the program. 
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Issue 1: Under section 1707.43 of the Ohio Securities Act, persons other 

than the seller of the securities can be liable for the seller's violations of the 

Act if they "participated in or aided the seller in any way" in the illegal 

sales. Is Rosenthal Collins liable under this section where: (I) it knew that 

Villalba was legally prohibited from either operating or soliciting money 

for his planned commodity pool, yet it opened the account for him to do so 

even though its own rules forbid opening an account when illegal activity 

is suspected; (2) it knew that the offering circular used to solicit money for 

the commodity pool misrepresented the risks of Villalba's program and 

futures trading in general but opened the account despite the requirement 

that an account should not be opened when misrepresentations are made in 

an offering circular for the account; (3) it knew that Villalba represented to 

investors that he would trade only a few days a month in "unleveraged" 

futures transactions but took no action to stop trading when its records 

showed that Villalba was trading almost daily, speculating with high

leverage transactions, and materially deviating from the investment plan; 

and (4) its reporting systems detected substantial suspicious activity in the 

account that was not reported or acted upon by its compliance department 

even though it was required to close an account if suspicious activity was 

detected? (Assign. of Error I.) 
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Issue 2: Under RCW 21.20.430(1) of the Securities Act of Washington. 

liability may be imposed on a person in addition to the immediate seller if 

that person's participation was a substantial contributive factor in the 

violation. Is Rosenthal Collins liable under this section based on the 

circumstances stated in Issue I? (Assign. of Error I.) 

Issue 3: Under RCW 21.20.430(3) of the Securities act of Washington, 

liability may be imposed on a person who "materially aids in the 

transaction" that violates the Act. Is Rosenthal Collins liable under this 

section based on the circumstances stated in Issue 1? (Assign. of Error 1.) 

Issue 4: Did the court err in holding as a matter of law that customer 

Goldberg did not purchase securities when he (I) invested funds directly 

into Villalba's program, (2) had no control over Villalba's investment 

decisions, (3) was not aware of the actual transactions made in the account, 

and (4) paid Villalba a percentage of the profits in his program - as did the 

other customers - but where Villalba was compensated through a 

partnership agreement with Goldberg? (Assign. of Error 2.) 

Issue 5: Is Rosenthal Collins liable to Villalba's customers for negligent 

supervision ofVillalba's account based on the circumstances stated in Issue 

I and where Rosenthal Collins's conduct also violated CFTC and NFA 

regulations and its internal compliance procedures? (Assign. of Error 3.) 



Issue 6: Did the court err by granting Rosenthal Collins's motion under 

the Bank Secrecy Act for a protective order prohibiting the customers from 

seeking any information regarding its review and monitoring of Villalba's 

account (1) when disclosure of that information was expressly allowed by 

the Act and (2) even though that information had been provided to counsel 

in other litigation and disclosed in a public order issued by the CFTC? 

(Assign. of Error 4.) 

III. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

Introduction. This appeal addresses summary judgment dismissal of 

securities and negligence claims brought against defendant/respondent 

Rosenthal Collins Group, LLC ("RCG") for its role in connection with a 

fraud perpetuated by Enrique Villalba. Relief is also sought from a 

protective order obtained by RCG that prohibits discovery of its role in 

monitoring the account involved in the fraud. 

RCG opens the MMA account. RCG is a Futures Commission 

Merchant ("FCM") registered with the Commodities Futures Trading 

Commission ("CFTC") and the National Futures Association ("NF A") to 

conduct trading of futures contracts. CP 1522. In 1998. RCG agreed to open 

a trading account for Money Market Alternative. LLC ('"MMA '")a company 

owned by Villalba. CP 349, 840-45. 
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Villalba describes his "low risk" program to RCG. RCG reviewed a 

six page offering circular Villalba prepared to solicit $100 million from 

investors for the MMA account. CP 349-51. The circular described the 

investment plan for the account: 

(1) Funds from Villalba's customers would be pooled to invest in 

treasury bills or money market funds "within a vehicle similar to a mutual 

fund." CP 853. 

(2) On occasion, Villalba would purchase S&P 500 futures contracts. 

The timing of these purchases were based on his purported expertise in 

predicting certain market trends. CP 856-57. Those transactions would add 

2% to 5% additional value for his customers. CP 856. 

(3) The investment had minimal risk because the futures transactions 

would be made with "little or no leverage." Id. 

(4) Risk in the futures trading would be further limited by the use of stop 

orders set to limit losses. Id. 

(5) The trades in futures contracts would be infrequent, described 

variously as "a few days per month a position in the Standard & Poor's 500 

Index is taken," "on average a week per month.'' and "approximately 90% 

of the year, the asset value of the portfolio will not fluctuate on a daily basis 

as the dollars in the portfolio will remain in non-fluctuating treasury bills or 

short term commercial paper." Accordingly. "underlying asset risk is 
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minimal." CP 856. 

The program created a commodity pool. The circular claimed that the 

fund was not subject to state or federal regulation. CP 856. RCG, however, 

recognized that the account would become a commodity pool, the futures 

industry's equivalent of a mutual fund. CP 1556. That made Villalba, or his 

company, a commodity pool operator. See CP 849. Neither were registered 

as commodity pool operators as required by the CFTC. CP 845, 851. 

The attempt to avoid registration. A form was provided to Villalba 

with the new account documents identifying two potential exceptions to the 

registration requirement. CP 849. RCG's file shows that Villalba selected 

an exemption that was only applicable if he neither (1) received any direct 

or indirect compensation for managing the anticipated $100 million pool 

nor (2) advertised for participants. Id. The circular, however, stated that (1) 

he expected to receive management fees from the proceeds, CP 855, and (2) 

MMA would be "offering these securities to the public." CP 853. 

RCG's compliance procedures mandate that a new account should not 

be opened if it suspects illegal activity. CP 1539. After its reviews of the 

offering circular and the other information provided by Villalba, it opened 

the MMA account for trading. See CP 1524. That decision would generate 

more than $1 million in commissions and fees for RCG. CP 1525, n.6. 
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The MMA plan was never followed. Villalba never followed his 

purported investment plan. See CP 1517-20. Instead of keeping customer 

money in treasury bills with occasional transactions in S&P 500 futures 

contracts, Villalba traded futures with RCG almost daily. E.g., CP 1406-08, 

1413-14, 1473-75. Also, the trades were highly leveraged and risky. The 

promised "stop orders" to limit losses were not used. CP 449. Single day 

losses of more than $100,000 were not uncommon, and in March 2008, the 

MMA account lost more than $9 million during the month. CP 1459. 

Although RCG' s records showed the losses and frequency of trading in 

the commodity pool, the quarterly statements provided to the customers did 

not. See, CP 1129, (customer statement for January-March 2008). Villalba 

fabricated account statements showing that his program was doing well. CP 

1119, 1129. When Villalba revealed his fraud to the customers, their 

account statements indicated an aggregate value of millions of dollars. In 

actuality, the customers' money was gone. Id. 

Villalba's customers lose $30 million. The 26 victims of the MMA 

fraud lost more than $30 million. CP 295-97. They include 

customers/appellants Donald Burdick. Bernard Goldberg, Susan Byington, 

Lisa Carfagno, Peter and Janice Elliot, Paul Golstein, Tom and LaVoe 

Mulgrew, Susan Rosen, Martin Silverman. Sharon Silverman, and Barry 

and Robin Stuck, who received descriptions of the program promising their 
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money would reside in treasury bills or money market except for a "few 

days" during a month when the "portfolio seeks to capture a small 1 % gain 

... via the use of the S&P 500 index contract," thus providing a "double

digit rate of return without the same market risk associated with diversified 

stock or bond portfolios .... " CP 1625. 

Villaba sent to prison. Villalba was sued by the Securities and 

Exchange Commission and the CFTC. CP 1362-84. He pied guilty to wire 

fraud, was ordered to pay more than $30 million in restitution, and is serving 

a 105 month prison sentence. CP 292-97. 

The CFTC investigates RCG. Shortly after Villalba was convicted, the 

CFTC investigated RCG's role in Villalba's fraud, concluding that RCG 

failed to properly supervise the MMA account. CP 1522-32. The CFTC 

found that RCG ignored many "red flags" appearing in the account records 

and that it should have acted in light of "the lack of regard for trading losses, 

commissions, and fees in the MMA account." CP 1527-28. 

Related litigation. RCG was sued by Villalba's customers in two other 

cases, both in Ohio: Pierelli v. RCG Group, LLC, No. 2011-CV-005 l (Erie 

County) and VASA Order v. RCG Group. L.L.C. No. CV-11-753705 

(Cuyahoga County). RCG brought motions for summary judgment in both 

cases. Some claims were dismissed. but both courts refused to dismiss the 

claims for secondary liability under the Ohio securities act. App. A, C. The 
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VASA case went to trial solely on the Ohio securities claims. The jury 

returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiffs. App. E. 

Procedural history of this case. The customers filed a motion for 

summary judgment that their transactions with Villalba were securities 

under the state securities acts. The trial court granted that motion except for 

the investments made by customer Bernie Goldberg. The court held that his 

investments were not securities because Villalba was compensated through 

a partnership agreement he had with Goldberg. RCG filed two summary 

judgment motions. The first sought a holding that claims for some 

transactions were barred under the Ohio and California statutes of repose. 

The customers conceded the claims under California's securities act, but 

contested the applicability of the Ohio provision. That motion was not 

decided because the trial court granted RCG's second motion for summary 

judgment, where it: (1) ruled that all of the customers could bring claims 

under the Ohio securities act, (2) held that the purchases made by the 

plaintiffs were securities, except for customer Goldberg, (3) dismissed the 

customers' securities claims, holding that RCG could not be secondarily 

liable for Villalba 's violations of the securities acts, and ( 4) dismissed the 

customers' claim for negligent supervision of the account and the 

Washington Consumer Protection Act claim. The trial court did not rule on 
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RCG's claim that the state securities acts were preempted by the 

Commodities Exchange Act. 

Prior to the summary judgment motions, the trial court granted RCG's 

motion for a protective order that the federal Bank Secrecy Act prohibited 

discovery of its monitoring and investigation of the MMA account. 

IV. ARGUMENT 

A. Villalba illegally sold securities to the customers that violated the 
Ohio and Washington securities acts 

1. Introduction: the customers' securities claims. 

RCG is secondarily liable to the customers under the Ohio and 

Washington securities acts for its role in Villalba's fraud. 1 The customers 

can recover their losses under these acts by showing (1) that they purchased 

"securities"; (2) that Villalba violated the securities laws when he sold those 

securities to the customers, and (3) that RCG's involvement with the 

scheme was sufficient for secondary liability under either (a) the Ohio 

standard of "participated in" or "aided the seller in any way," or (b) the 

Washington standard of "substantially contribute" to the violation or 

'"materially aid'' the transaction. 

1 Claims were also ti led under the California securities act on behalf of customers who 
were California residents. Those claims are not being pursued because their claims under 
the Ohio act provide adequate relief. Claims under the Washington statute are still being 
pursued because RCG claimed that ce11ain of Washington resident Goldberg's transactions 
were barred by the Ohio act·s statute of repose that would not be barred under the 
Washington statute. That issue was not resolved by the trial cou11. CP 2378 (~ 2). 
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These claims were dismissed on a motion for summary judgment. 

Review by this court is de novo.2 All facts and reasonable inferences are 

viewed in the light most favorable to the non-moving party.3 When 

reasonable minds could differ, the motion should be denied and the case 

should go to triaJ.4 

2. The customers were sold "securities." 

The trial court granted the customers' motion for summary judgment 

ruling that the customers purchased securities when they provided money 

to Villalba's Money Market Alternative ("MMA") program.5 RCG did not 

appeal that decision. 

3. Villalba violated the Ohio and Washington securities acts when he 
sold securities to the customers. 

Villalba sold unregistered securities to the customers, 6 thus violating the 

Ohio and Washington securities acts.7 The acts were also violated by 

2 Cornish Col. of' the Arts v. I 000 Virginia l.P, 158 Wn. App. 203, 215-216 (20 I 0). 
3 Kahn v. Salerno, 90 Wn. App. I I 0, 117 ( 1998), rev. denied, 136 Wn.2d I 016. 

-I Klinke v. Famous Recipe Fried Chicken, Inc., 94 Wn.2d 255, 256-257, ( 1980). 

5 CP I 014-31: CP 2378-79 (~ 3); RP 24. The trial court incorrectly ruled that customer 
Bernie Goldberg did not purchase securities when he made payments to MMA because he 
used a partnership agreement to compensate Villalba for his investments with MMA. That 
error is addressed in part C of the Argument. 

6 CP 1542. 

7 Ohio act: O.R.C. § I 707.44(C)( I); Mwphy v. Stargate Def" Sys. Corp., 498 F.3d 386. 
392 (6th Cir. 2007) (rescission available to purchaser of unregistered securities under Ohio 
securities act). Washington act: RCW 21.20.140; Christgard, Inc. v. Christensen, 29 Wash. 
App. 18. 26. 627 P.2d 136. 141 ( 1981) (rescission available to purchaser of unregistered 
securities under Washington securities act). 
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Villalba's misrepresentations to the customers.8 Villalba promised a fund 

principally invested in treasury bills but instead pooled customers funds to 

invest exclusively in high-risk, highly-leveraged futures contracts and 

created phony account statements that hid the disastrous results. He pied 

guilty to a federal wire fraud charge, was ordered to pay restitution of more 

than $30 million, and is serving a 105 month prison sentence. His fraud 

against the customers is uncontested. 

B. RCG is liable under the securities acts of Ohio and Washington for 
its role in Villalba's MMA scam. 

1. RCG is liable under the Ohio Securities Act because it "participated 
in or aided" Villalba's scheme to speculate in an illegal commodity 
pool while representing to customers that their money was invested 
in treasury bills. 

Ohio extends secondary liability for securities violations to those who 

"participated in" the illegal sale or "aided the seller in any way": 

Every sale or contract for sale made in violation of Chapter 
1707 of the Revised Code is voidable at the election of the 
purchaser. The person making such sale or contract for sale, 
and every person who has participated in or aided the seller 
in any way in making such sale or contract for sale, are 
jointly and severally liable to such purchaser, ... for the full 
amount paid by such purchaser and for all taxable court costs, 
unless the court determines that the violation did not materially 
affect the protection contemplated by the violated provision.9 

8 Ohio act: O.R.C. ~ 1707.44(8)(4) (false representations); O.R.C. ~ I 707.44(G) 
(fraudulent acts or practices). Washington act: RCW 21.20.0 I 0 (schemes to defraud. untrue 
statements of material fact). 

9 O.R.C. ~ 1707.43 (emphasis added). 

- 12-



This provision "does not require that a person induce a purchaser to invest 

in order to be held liable. Rather, the language is very broad, and 

participating in the sale or aiding the seller in any way is sufficient to form 

a basis for liability under R.C. 1707.43."10 "The statute does not require 

knowledge, intent, or any other mental state on the part of secondary actor, 

nor does it require reliance, inducement, or proximate cause as between the 

secondary actor and purchaser." 11 And "any kind of aid will do. " 12 In an 

early decision under the act, a court held that signing a stock certificate 

qualified as the type of aid that satisfied the statute.13 

The selling point ofVillalba's MMA program was his purported skill in 

using "non-leveraged" S&P 500 futures contracts at select times to increase 

returns from investments in money market funds or treasury bills. As it 

turned out, Villalba pooled the customers' money to trade highly-leveraged 

IO Federated Mgt. Co. v. Coopers & Lybrand, 137 Ohio App. 3d 366, 391, 738 N.E. 2d 
842, 861 (2000). 

11 In re Nat'/ Century Fin. Enterprises, Inc., Inv. Litig., 755 F. Supp. 2d 857, 884 (S.D. 
Ohio 2010). 

l2 Piere/Ii v. RCG Group, LLC, Erie C. P. No. 201 l-CV-0051, Opinion and Judgment 
Entry at 6, 8 (April 16, 2013) (denying summary judgment in concluding that a jury could 
reasonably conclude that RCG undertook an "indispensable role" in Yillalba's "fraudulent 
offering of securities that was to extend well into the future"). Ohio trial court opinions are 
cited by appellate courts as authority. See, White v. Am. Mji-s. Mut. Ins. Co .. 2002-0hio-
4 I 25. ~ 30 (Ct. App.); Preferred Capital, Inc. v. Puwer Eng'g Grp .. Inc .. 163 Ohio App. 
3d 522, 531. 839 N.E.2d 416, 423 (2005) (quoting Cuyahoga trial cow1 opinion on forum 
selection clauses). "All opinions of the courts of appeals issued after May I. 2002 may be 
cited as legal authority and weighted as deemed appropriate by the courts without regard 
to whether the opinion was published or in what form it was published." Ohio S. Ct. Rep. 
Op. Ruic 3.4. 

13 Miller 1·. Griffith. 196 N.E.2d 154 (Ct. Com. Pl. 1961 ). 
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positions in futures contracts at high risk for the chance of substantially 

higher returns that would allow him to pay himself significant fees while 

providing customers with the smaller return described in his offering 

materials. 14 To accomplish his plan he needed a licensed FCM willing to 

establish a commodity pool. 15 RCG stepped up. Without a willing FCM, 

Villalba could not pursue his MMA program. 

The court in Pieretti found that RCG could be liable under O.R.C. § 

1 707.43 because it assisted in making Villalba's sale of securities possible, 

even if it did not help promote those sales. 16 That is also true under North 

Dakota's securities act, which also extends liability to persons "who shall 

have participated or aided in any way in making such sale": 17 

Participation is not necessary, under the statute, to render 
corporate directors liable where they aided in any way in 
making illegal sales of securities of the kind involved in a 
particular sale if such aid made the particular sale possible. 18 

Similarly, the Ohio Court of Appeals held that a financial firm could 

have secondary liability under section 1707.43 when it agreed to provide a 

line of credit that needed to be established before an issuer was allowed to 

1-ICP1517-22. 

I~ CP 1552 (p. 197). 

I(' f'ierelli. Apr. 16, 2013 Order at 7-8.

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