#### NO. 73459-8

# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 1

## DONALD BURDICK, et al.

### Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

# ROSENTHAL COLLINS GROUP, LLC an Illinois limited liability corporation,

Defendant/Appellee

On review from the King County Superior Court Case No. 12-2-28409-1 SEA (Hon. Douglass A. North)

#### **BRIEF FOR RESPONDENT**

Christian T. Kemnitz KATTEN MUCHIN ROSENMAN LLP 525 W. Monroe St. Chicago, Illinois 60661

Gavin W. Skok RIDDELL WILLIAMS P.S. 1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 4500 Seattle, Washington 98154 *Attorneys for Respondent* 

4823-6114-4619.01 65343.00001

# **

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

#### **IV.ARGUMENT**

# 1. The Court Properly Granted Summary Judgment on Appellants' State Securities Claims Because RCG Did Not Participate or Aid in the "Sale" to Appellants.

The trial court properly granted RCG summary judgment on all of Appellants' state securities claims because Appellants can point to no evidence that RCG played any role whatsoever in the sales transactions between Villalba and his investors. On appeal, Appellants understandably avoid discussing the actual sales of alleged securities or their interactions with Villalba. Instead, Appellants seek to hold RCG responsible for Villalba's sales because RCG missed supposed "red flags" in opening and monitoring the MMA account. Even if this argument was supported by the record (and it is not), none of it is relevant. The WSSA and the Ohio Securities Act do not turn on how well the defendant performed his or her functions (*i.e.*, negligence), but on the role that the defendant played in the illegal sale of securities. *See In re Nat'l Century Fin. Enterps., Inv., Inv. Litig.*, 755 F. Supp. 2d 857, 885 (S.D. Ohio 2010); *Kittilson v. Ford*, 93 Wn.2d 223 (1984).

The only relevant question under both the WSSA and the Ohio Securities Act is whether RCG played a sufficient role in the sales transaction to Appellants to be liable under these statutes. Although these statutes offer differing formulations as to the kind of participation that imposes liability—requiring, for example, the defendant be a "substantial contributing factor" in the sale, provide "material aid" in the sale, or participate or aid in "making the sale,"—the general principle remains the same: the greater the defendant's participation in the illegal sales transaction, the more likely it will be held responsible when fraud occurs.

Appellants can cite no law that would justify abandoning this basic framework of the state securities laws to instead impose liability based on RCG's alleged negligence in handling the MMA account. Here, Appellants admit that RCG did not factor into their decision to invest with Villalba.<sup>9</sup> RCG did not issue, promote or solicit the sale alleged securities and, in fact, had absolutely no contact whatsoever with Appellants.<sup>10</sup> The sales of securities were completed well before Villalba would send any money to an account at RCG to trade futures. Because RCG had no involvement with Villalba's sale of securities, summary judgment was properly granted in RCG's favor.

# A. Appellants' RCW 21.20.430(1) Claims Fail Because There Was No Evidence That RCG Acted as "Seller."

Summary judgment was properly granted to RCG on Appellants' RCW 21.20.430(1) claims because there was no evidence that RCG was a "seller" of securities, as required by the statute. RCW 21.20.430(1). Under Washington law, a defendant is considered a "seller" only if it is a "substantial contributing factor" in the sales transaction. *Hines v. Data Line Systems, Inc.*, 114 Wn.2d 127, 149 (1990). In *Hines*, the controlling case on this subject, the Washington Supreme Court held that service providers, such as RCG, are not a "substantial contributive factor" in a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> See supra footnote 1.

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{10}{10}$  See supra footnote 3.

securities offering (or a "seller"), absent some level of "active participation" in the sales transaction itself. *Id.* at 149. Thus, even though the law firm in *Hines* had advised the issuer, the Court held that it was not a "seller" because it had no "personal contact with any of the investors [and was not] any way involved in the solicitation process." *Id.* 

This Court has consistently interpreted *Hines* to mean that a defendant is not a "seller" under the WSSA unless it "take[s] . . . part in the actual sales process by acting as the 'catalyst' between the [seller] and the [purchaser]." *See Brin v. Stuzman*, 89 Wn. App. 809, 830 (1998) ("but for" causation is not sufficient if the defendant is not involved in the actual sales process); *Viewpoint-North Stafford LLC v. CB Richard Ellis, Inc.*, 175 Wn. App. 189, 197 (2013) (referring purchasers to an investment company was not a "substantial contributing factor" in the sale); *Shinn v. Thrust IV, Inc.*, 56 Wn. App. 827, 851 (1990) (same).<sup>11</sup>

The holdings in *Hines, Brin*, and *Viewpoint-North* preclude liability RCG in this case. In *Hines*, advice from a law firm on the actual securities was not sufficient to support liability. Here, RCG gave no advice to Villalba on his alleged sale of securities. In *Brin*, liability was not found even though the defendant had contact with the plaintiff and was the "but for" cause of her investment. Here, RCG had no contact with the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> See also Barbara L. Schmidt, Note, *Expanding Seller Liability Under the Securities Act* of Washington, 63 WASH. L. REV. 769, 783 (1988) (noting that courts applying the substantial contributing factor test find liability almost exclusively where actual title passes from the "seller" or where the "seller" is directly involved in the sale process), *cited in Brin*, 89 Wn. App. at 830.

Appellants, and they admit RCG played no role in their decision to invest. Finally, in *Viewpoint-North*, liability was not found even though the defendant received a finder's fee for referring purchasers to the investment company where the sale was completed without defendant's "knowledge, advice, or input."<sup>12</sup> Here, RCG did not refer anyone to Villalba, let alone receive a fee for doing so. Rather, Appellants introduced each other to Villalba.

On appeal, Appellants disregard this Court's well-developed case law interpreting RCW 21.20.430(1) and instead attempt to distinguish *Hines* without effect. First, Appellants argue that *Hines* is limited because it involved legal advice and does not protect all service providers from liability. Op. Br. 28. As *Brin, Viewpoint-North*, and *Shinn* demonstrate, *Hines* has never been limited to cases involving legal advice. Moreover, neither RCG nor the trial court relied on *Hines* for a categorical exclusion of all "service providers." Rather, the trial court recognized that *Hines* precludes liability against service providers unless they do "something more" that amounts to "active participation in the sales transaction." *Id.* Thus, RCG cannot be liable for being a service provider because it had no active participation in the sales transaction.

Appellants also argue that RCG is more than a "provider of services" because "[i]t created an account eligible as a commodity pool [sic] to help

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{12}{12}$  The court found that "the absence of any *real promotional conduct* on the part of the defendant" was fatal to the plaintiff's claim that the defendant was a "seller." *Id.* at 200 (emphasis added).

Villalba sell his program."<sup>13</sup> Op. Br. 28. This statement is false. Opening an account is not "promotional conduct" and there is no evidence in the record that the existence of an actual account "help[ed] Villalba *sell* his program" in any way, much less that RCG opened the account to somehow help Villalba. *Id.* Villalba sold his investments with lies about fake gains in fake accounts listed on fake account statements. In any event, if merely opening an account was enough, then any service provider, including MMA's bank, phone company, and internet provider would all be sellers.

Finally, Appellants argue that "unlike the lawyers in *Hines*, [RCG] directly benefited from commissions for trading from funds invested by customers." Op. Br. 28. This is also untrue. RCG's commissions were not tied to or contingent on Villalba's success in soliciting investors or the sale of any "security" to Appellants. RCG's commissions were solely based on providing services, *i.e.*, clearing futures trades in MMA's account. Even so, the mere fact that RCG received commissions on MMA's futures trades does not make RCG a "catalyst to the sale" between Villalba (or even MMA) and Appellants. Op. Br. 28. *See Viewpoint-North*, 175 Wn. App. at 200 (defendant who received a fee contingent upon consummation of the transaction was not a "seller").

Appellants cannot avoid the fact that all of the alleged transactions in "securities" occurred exclusively between Villalba and Appellants, most

 $<sup>^{\</sup>underline{13}}$  Appellants are also wrong that the account was a commodity pool. See supra Part IV.4.

often in the privacy of their own homes. RCG played absolutely no role in those sales. There is also no dispute that RCG did not market or promote Villalba or MMA or take part in the development or underwriting of Villalba's investment. Villalba began soliciting his investors before MMA even opened an account at RCG. RCG was not a "substantial contributing factor" in the sales at issue. For that reason, summary judgment was properly granted on Appellants' RCW 21.20.430(1) claims.

# B. Appellants' RCW 21.20.430(3) Claims Fail Because RCG Was Not a Securities Broker-Dealer for Villalba and Did Not Materially Aid in the Sales Transaction.

Appellants also contend that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment on their RCW 21.20.430(3) claims. RCW 21.20.430(3) imposes liability only where plaintiff can prove *both* that the defendant (1) is a securities "broker-dealer" for the seller and (2) materially aids in the sales transaction.<sup>14</sup> *See* RCW 21.20.430(3). Because Appellants could establish neither element, the trial court properly granted summary judgment in RCG's favor on these claims.

First, RCG is categorically excluded from liability under RCW 21.20.430(3) because RCG never served as a securities brokerdealer for MMA or Villalba. The definition of "broker-dealer" specifically requires the defendant to be in the business of effecting "securities" transactions for the seller. RCW 21.20.005; *see also Bennett* 

 $<sup>\</sup>frac{14}{14}$  RCW 21.20.430(3) also reaches "control persons" and "persons exempt under the provisions of RCW 21.20.040." Appellants do not argue that RCG falls within either category. *See* Op. Br. 29 n.71.

*v. Durham*, 683 F.3d 734, 738–39 (6th Cir. 2012) (a "broker-dealer" must represent the issuer "in effecting or attempting to effect" the sale of securities). RCG did not effect any securities transactions; the only transactions involving RCG were futures transactions executed by MMA in its futures account. Because futures contracts and futures accounts are not "securities," RCG could not have been a securities "broker-dealer" for purposes of RCW 21.20.430(3). *See Sherry v. Diercks*, 29 Wn. App. 433, 441 (1981) ("The nondiscretionary commodity [futures] account involved here is not a 'security."); *Sinva, Inc. v. Merrill, Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith, Inc.*, 253 F. Supp. 259, 267 (S.D.N.Y. 1966) (commodity futures are not securities because their price movements are the result of market conditions and not the efforts of any promoters).

Second, summary judgment was also appropriate because there is no evidence that RCG provided any "material aid" in the transactions between Villalba and Appellants. Although this Court has not had the opportunity to opine on the WSSA's "materially aided" provision, other courts have interpreted "material aid" under identical provisions to mean that the defendant's involvement must be "considerable, significant or substantial." *Nicholas v. Saul Stone & Co. LLC*, 1998 WL 34111036, at \*19 (D.N.J. June 30, 1998), *aff'd* 224 F.3d 179 (3d Cir. 2000) (quotations omitted) (attached as App. A). RCG, however, played no role whatsoever in any offering of securities by MMA or Villalba, and it had no contact with any of Villalba's investors. Thus, RCG's role was insufficient as a matter of law.

Rather than point to any evidence in the record that RCG "materially aided" in any of the transactions between Villalba and Appellants, Appellants argue that "courts recognize that a firm 'materially aids' a seller's fraud by performing functions such as clearing trades, providing margin accounts and other activities when that firm is aware of illegal activity in the account." Op. Br. 29. Appellants are wrong. As an initial matter, RCG did not clear, provide margin or any other service relating to the alleged securities at issue. But even if RCG did clear Appellants' transactions, clearing brokers are routinely found not liable as secondary participants because they do not serve a material function in the transaction. See, e.g., Carlson v. Bear, Stearns & Co., Inc., 906 F.2d 315, 317-79 (7th Cir. 1990) (clearing brokers generally perform merely operational or ministerial duties and are not material to the underlying transaction). Indeed, the Official Comments to the Uniform Securities Act—upon which the WSSA is modeled—state that "the performance by a clearing broker of the clearing broker's contractual functions . . . without more would not constitute material aid or result in liability." UNIFORM SECURITIES ACT § 509 cmt. 11.

*Koruga v. Fiserv*, the only case upon which Appellants rely, is inapposite. 183 F. Supp. 2d 1245 (D. Or. 2001). As an initial matter, the Oregon district court in *Koruga* merely affirmed an arbitration panel's findings under the highly deferential "manifest disregard for the law" standard. *Id.* at 1246. In any event, the case is readily distinguishable. The clearing broker in *Koruga* had a contractual agreement with plaintiffs,

4823-6114-4619.01 65343.00001 **-18-** loaned money directly to them for the purpose of purchasing fraudulently offered stocks and prepared and mailed statements directly to the plaintiffs. *Id.* Conversely in this case, Appellants dealt *only* with Villalba, received no loan from RCG and, indeed, had no contact or legal relationship whatsoever with RCG.

In cases presenting similar circumstances, courts have found that an FCM does not "materially aid" a seller of securities. For example, in Nicholas v. Saul Stone & Co., the plaintiffs also argued that that an FCM allegedly aided the seller in a Ponzi scheme by allegedly failing to follow its own internal procedures and violating CFTC regulations and NFA Bylaw 1101. 1998 WL 34111036, at \*15–16. Compare Op. Br. 21–22. The court rejected these arguments because the CFTC and NFA rules do not bestow any rights on the general public and concluded that the FCM did not "materially aid" in a seller's Ponzi scheme because it had no contact with investors "so as to solicit or persuade plaintiffs to purchase securities." Id. at \*16-19 (collecting cases); see also Bache Halsey Stuart Shields, Inc. v. Erdos, 35 Wn. App. 225, 231 (1983) (violations of CFTC rules, dealer association rules, or internal "house rules" do not give rise to a private cause of action absent actual fraud). For the same reasons, RCG could not have materially aided Villalba's sale because it had no contact (directly or indirectly) with any of his investors.

Finally, even if it were true that courts impose secondary liability on clearing brokers when they are "aware of illegal activity in the account," that argument does not support liability in this case. First, there is absolutely no evidence that "RCG knew of Villalba's illegal activity." The best Appellants' can muster is pure legal argument about RCG's alleged failure to notice supposed "red flags" in the MMA account. Op. Br. 30. Second, cases imposing secondary liability on securities clearing firms have no relevance here because RCG never performed any securities clearing services for MMA, Villalba, or Appellants. The *futures* transactions executed by MMA at RCG are not the fraudulent "sales" of securities upon which Appellants' claims rest (nor could they be because futures are not securities). Rather, Appellants contend that a "security" was created and sold when Villalba solicited Appellants' money to invest in the fraudulent MMA "program." Op. Br. 30-33. Those fraudulent sales were complete once Appellants sent their money to Villalba, so any service RCG provided to MMA after those sales were consummated-and related solely to futures contracts-could not have "materially aided" the relevant transactions.

## C. The Ohio Securities Act Is Inapplicable Under Washington Choice of Law Rules.

Appellants also appeal the denial of their Ohio Securities Act claims arising under O.R.C. § 1707.43(A). Under Washington choice of law rules, however, the Ohio Securities Act is inapplicable in this case.

In *FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group*, the Washington Supreme Court instructed that where a conflict exists between state securities laws, the court must determine which state has the to determine which state has the "most significant relationship" to the

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